



ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

JOURNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

Review

CDPKs: The critical decoders of calcium signal at various stages of malaria parasite development



Manish Sharma^a, Himashree Choudhury^a, Rajarshi Roy^a, Samantha A. Michaels^b, Kayode K. Ojo^b, Abhisheka Bansal^{a,*}

^a Molecular Parasitology Laboratory, School of Life Sciences, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi 110067, India ^b Center for Emerging and Re-emerging Infectious Diseases, Division of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA 98109 USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 April 2021 Received in revised form 31 August 2021 Accepted 31 August 2021 Available online 06 September 2021

Keywords: CDPK Calcium signaling Plasmodium Malaria Chemical genetics

ABSTRACT

Calcium ions are used as important signals during various physiological processes. In malaria parasites, *Plasmodium* spp., calcium dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) have acquired the unique ability to sense and transduce calcium signals at various critical steps during the lifecycle, either through phosphorylation of downstream substrates or mediating formation of high molecular weight protein complexes. Calcium signaling cascades establish important crosstalk events with signaling pathways mediated by other secondary messengers such as cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP). CDPKs play critical roles at various important physiological steps during parasite development in vertebrates and mosquitoes. They are also important for transmission of the parasite between the two hosts. Combined with the fact that CDPKs are not present in humans, they continue to be pursued as important targets for development of anti-malarial drugs.

technology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	5093
2.	Domain organization and calcium mediated activation of CDPKs	5094
3.	Calcium dynamics and storage in the malaria parasite	5095
4.	CDPKs and asexual intra-erythrocytic development of malaria parasite	5096
5.	CDPKs and sexual development of malaria parasites	5098
6.	CDPKs and pre-erythrocytic phase of malaria parasite development	5100
7.	Targeting CDPKs of malaria parasite for drug development and functional characterization	5101
8.	Targeting PfCDPKs with the autoinhibitory junction domain	5101
9.	Multi-kinase targeting approach to identify potent anti-plasmodial inhibitors	5103
10.	Use of chemical genetics to understand the functional roles of CDPKs	5103
11.	Summary and outlook	5104
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	5105
	Declaration of Competing Interest	5105
	Acknowledgements	5105
	References	5105

 \ast Corresponding author at: RM 112, School of Life Sciences, Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi 110067, India.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2021.08.054

E-mail addresses: abhisheka@jnu.ac.in, bansal.abhisheka@gmail.com (A. Bansal).

^{2001-0370/© 2021} Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Calcium (Ca^{2+}) is a ubiquitous secondary messenger used for regulating a variety of physiologically important processes in all unicellular and multicellular organisms [19,29]. The dynamics of intracellular calcium is intricately regulated through constant exchanges between the extracellular environment, cell cytoplasm and calcium stores inside the cell via membrane contact sites [29]. Multicellular organisms respond to various developmental cues and environmental fluctuations through complex signal transduction networks that include protein receptors, enzymes, transcription factors, secondary messengers such as calcium (Ca²⁺), lipids and hydrogen ions. Among them, Ca²⁺ is involved in regulation of various essential signaling cascades required for multiple physiological events [19,29]. Many Ca²⁺ sensor families such as Calmodulins (CaMs), Calmodulin-like proteins (CMLs), Calcineurin B-like proteins (CBLs) and Ca²⁺-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) have been discovered in plants [76,25]. In contrast to multicellular organisms, calcium signal in malaria parasite is mostly perceived and transduced via CDPKs. Interaction of CDPKs with calcium activates the kinase that in turn phosphorylates downstream substrates or mediates interactions with other proteins to form physiologically important high molecular weight protein complexes [25]. CDPKs are expressed in alveolates including

apicomplexan parasites, and plants and importantly, are not encoded in human genome.

It has been suggested that malaria parasites and plants shared a common ancestor and diverged millions of years ago into two independent groups [73]. A recent phylogenetic study revealed evolutionary relationships and presence of monophyly in Archaeplastida that suggest early de novo gene fusion events between calmodulin gene and a protein kinase gene in the ancestral members giving rise to Calmodulin Fused Kinase (CFK) [24]. Scientific evidence suggests that this event occurred around the same evolutionary timeline in plants and apicomplexan parasites [24]. During the course of evolution, the CFK protein significantly diverged in sequence and structure and co-evolved for optimum functionality. These events are thought to be responsible for the present day CDPKs that continue to persist ever since in single celled eukaryotes, the apicomplexan parasites. The CDPK family is hugely expanded in plants with 34 members in Arabidopsis thaliana (AtCDPKs) and are reported to play crucial roles in plant development, growth, and stress responses [101]. We have performed primary amino acid sequence alignment of all 34 AtCDPKs with P. falciparum CDPKs and arranged the putative orthologues of P. falciparum CDPKs in A. thaliana according to their similarity index (Table 1). Moreover, phylogenetic analysis of AtCDPKs with PfCDPKs and TgCDPKs show close proximity among Apicomplexan

Table 1

Functional profiling of *Plasmodium* spp. CDPKs and putative orthologues in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Calcium dependent protein kinases are critical at various stages of *Plasmodium* development. Expression & localization, functional roles of different CDPKs of *P. falciparum* and *P. berghei* are tabulated along with orthologues in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *AtCDPKs are arranged in the decreasing order of their percentage identity score to the corresponding CDPKs of *Plasmodium* spp. The orthologs are generated according to the alignment of the primary amino acid sequence of *P. falciparum* and *P. berghei* CDPKs using Blast Tool [https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi].

CDPKs	Expression & Localisation	Function in <i>Plasmodium</i> spp.	References	Putative Orthologous AtCDPKs ^{*(percentage} identity)
P. falcin	arum			
CDPK1	Asexual (Rings, Trophozoites, Schizonts, Merozoites) Sexual (Gametocytes, Gametes)	Merozoite invasion, Schizont development and egress Male and Female gametogenesis, Mosquito transmission	[84,9,59,5,2,8,55,37,33,79] [6]	$\begin{array}{l} AtCDPK29^{(37\%)}/23^{(36\%)}/\\ 21^{(36\%)}/9^{(36\%)}/26^{(36\%)} \end{array}$
CDPK2	Asexual (Trophozoites, Schizonts)	- Male Gametocyte Exflagellation and Mosquito infection	[7] [7]	AtCDPK29 ^(40%) /30 ^(39%) /4 ^(39%) /9 ^(39%) /5 ^(39%)
CDPK3	Sexual (Gametocytes) Sexual (Gametocytes)	-	[69]	AtCDPK33 ^(41%) /29 ^(40%) /9 ^(40%) /4 ^(40%)
CDPK4	- Sexual (Gametocytes)	Merozoite Invasion Male Gametocyte Exflagellation and mosquito transmission	[35] [58,97,112,91,90]	AtCDPK29 ^(40%) /21 (^{39%)/} 26 ^{(37%)/} 34 ^(37%)
CDPK5	Asexual (Schizonts, Merozoites)	Merozoite egress (Release of Egress-Specific Organelles)	[32][1]	AtCDPK25 ^(39%) /1 ^(38%) /21 ^(37%) /29 ^(37%) /23 ^(37%)
CDPK6	-	-	-	AtCDPK1 ^(32,8) /2 ^(32,8) / $18^{(31\%)}/9^{(31\%)}$
CDPK7	Asexual (Rings, Trophozoites, Schizonts, Merozoites)	Ring to trophozoite transition	[64]	AtCDPK12 ^(42%) /4 ^(40%) /29 ^(40%) /21 ^(38%)
P. bergh	ei			
CDPK1	Asexual (Schizonts) Sexual (Gametocytes, ookinetes, oocysts) Pre-erythrocytic (Sporozoites)	- Zygote development and mosquito transmission, ookinete motility Sporozoite motility and invasion of hepatocytes	[35] [100,35] [45]	AtCDPK29 ^(37%) /26 ^(36%) /6 ^(35%) /21 ^(35%)
CDPK3	Sexual (ookinetes)	Ookinetes motility, microneme secretion, midgut invasion	[102,54,78,108,35]	AtCDPK33 ^(41%) /29 ^(40%) /4 ^(39%) /2 ^(38%)
CDPK4	Asexual (Schizonts) Sexual (Gametocytes) Pre-erythrocytic (sporozoites)	Merozoite Motility and Invasion Cell cycle regulation in male gametogenesis, Sexual reproduction & mosquito transmission, ookinete infectivity, Ookinetes Motility Sporozoite motility and invasion, merosome formation/release from hepatocytes	[35] [12,91,52,36,35] [46,45]	AtCDPK29 ^(40%) /33 ^(39%) 26 ^(37%) /21 ^(37%)
CDPK5	Pre-erythrocytic (sporozoites, merosomes)	Sporozoite motility, Sporozoite invasion and Release of hepatic merozoites from merosomes	[45]	AtCDPK4 ^(37%) /2 ^(37%) / 17 ^(37%) /29 ^(36%) /34 ^(36%)
CDPK6	Pre-erythrocytic stages (Sporozoites)	Productive invasion of hepatocytes	[28]	AtCDPK25 ^(32%) / 16 ^(32%) /30 ^(31%) /28 ^(31%)
CDPK7	-	-	-	AtCDPK2 ^(41%) / 4 ^(40%) /29 ^(40%) /33 ^(38%)

CDPKs relative to *A. thaliana* (Fig. 1). Furthermore, our analysis suggests that compared to all other AtCDPKs, AtCDPK16, AtCDPK18 and AtCDPK28 cluster closely with PfCDPKs (Fig. 1, [101].

In plants, CDPKs have been reported to regulate the activity of transcription factors and control various signaling cascades [53,63]. Nicotiana tabacum CDPK1 for instance phosphorylates the transcription factor Repression of Shoot Growth (RSG) at Ser-114 thereby facilitating its sequestration in the cytoplasm through interaction with 14-3-3 protein and preventing its translocation to the nucleus [53]. Flowering Locus T (FT) is a critical protein in floral transition (vegetative-to-reproductive phase) that shares homology with phosphatidylethanolamine binding protein (PEBP) family and interacts with phosphorylated (phosphorylation at T282) basic region/leucine-zipper (bZIP) transcription factor called FD [63]. CDPKs have been demonstrated to carry out the phosphorylation of FD and mediate FT-FD complex formation that ultimately leads to floral transition [63]. Similarly, a recent study in malaria parasite suggests a role for P. falciparum CDPK1 in transcriptional regulation of gametocyte specific genes [6]. Disruption of CDPK1 led to transcriptional dysregulation of distinct subsets of genes required for transition from asexual to sexual phase of the parasite life cycle.

The CDPK family in malaria parasites is constituted of fewer members as compared to plants. Increases in intracellular calcium level at various developmental stages of malaria parasite are distinctly decoded by effector CDPK proteins that form an intricate part of the calcium signaling cascade. CDPKs are evidently critical for various physiological processes and are therefore indispensable for successful completion of malaria parasite life cycle. In the current review, we present the latest update on the function of CDPKs in malaria parasite life cycle separated into erythrocytic phase, sexual phase and pre-erythrocytic phase. At the end, different strategies previously used to design inhibitors against CDPKs for future anti-malarial drug development are discussed alongside elucidation of functional roles of each CDPK in parasite biology. We have also discussed the use of chemical genetics for functional characterization of CDPKs and approaches for multi-kinase targeting.

2. Domain organization and calcium mediated activation of CDPKs

The *P. falciparum* CDPK family contains 7 members with CDPK1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 conforming to the canonical architecture while CDPK6 and CDPK7 show atypical domain organization along with unusually long amino acid sequences (Fig. 2). The canonical domain organization of CDPK contains four contiguous regions starting with the most variable N-terminal domain followed by an intervening autoinhibitory junction domain (JD) between the N-terminal kinase domain and C-terminal calmodulin-like domain (CaMLD) that contains calcium binding motifs called EF-hands (Fig. 2) [50]. Post-translational modifications of CDPKs are responsible



Fig. 1. Phylogenetic relationships of calcium-dependent protein kinases (CDPKs) of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Toxoplasma gondii*. A phylogenetic tree is constructed on the basis of full length primary amino acid sequences of all CDPKs from A. thaliana (34 AtCDPKs), *Plasmodium falciparum* (7, PfCDPKs) and *Toxoplasma gondii* (12 TgCDPKs). Evolutionary history was inferred using Neighbor-joining method. The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (100replicates) are shown next to the branches. The evolutionary distances are computed using the Poisson correction method and are in the unites of the number of amino acid substitutions per site. This analysis involved 50 amino acid sequences and were analysed by MEGA X software. Compared to other AtCDPK16, AtCDPK18 and AtCDPK28 cluster closely with PfCDPKs.



Fig. 2. Domain Organization of *Plasmodium falciparum* calcium dependent protein kinases (PfCDPKs). The canonical architecture of PfCDPKs consists of N-terminal variable region followed by a conserved kinase domain and a calmodulin-like domain containing two pair of EF-hands. The intervening region between the kinase domain and the EF-hands is constituted by a junction domain that allows auto-inhibition of the CDPK activity in absence of calcium ions. CDPK1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 conform to the canonical architecture while CDPK6 and 7 are unusually long proteins with variations in the assembly of EF-hands along the length of the protein. CDPK7 contains a lipid interacting domain called pleckstrin homology (PH) domain.

for modulating the activity, localization and interaction of CDPKs with their cognate substrates [84,79,2]. Myristoylation of a conserved glycine residue (Gly²) at the N-terminus of PfCDPK1 is critical for its membrane localization in schizonts and merozoites [84]. The glycine residue at the second position is also conserved in *P*. falciparum CDPK2, and CDPK4. The kinase domain is the most conserved domain containing ATP binding motif and an activation loop. A CDPK Activation Domain (CAD) that is formed jointly by JD and CaMLD plays a critical role in overall calcium mediated activation of CDPKs [115]. In plant CDPKs, calcium binding induces conformational changes in CaMLD that allows for release of autoinhibition imparted by CAD on the kinase domain [10]. Interestingly, in apicomplexan CDPKs, calcium mediated activation is associated with release of autoinhibition of the kinase domain by CAD along with allosteric interactions of CAD with kinase and N-terminal domain [116,115].

Distinct functional roles have been assigned to Plasmodium CDPKs largely based on their differential expression and intracellular localization in various stages of the parasite development (Table 1). In addition, different CDPKs have different sensitivities to calcium ion concentrations ([Ca²⁺]) and as such, may be optimally active under resting or elevated [Ca²⁺]. Interestingly, partially overlapping functionality of a few members of the CDPK rodent-specific family in malaria parasites suggests co-operativity between different CDPKs to optimize physiological output in the same signaling cascade [45,35]. Under certain conditions, the parasites may adapt themselves for reduced or complete loss in activity of a particular CDPK with concomitant modulations in the gene transcription profile or epistatic changes to counter the loss of the CDPK activity.

3. Calcium dynamics and storage in the malaria parasite

Extracellular calcium plays a critical role during invasion of red blood cells (RBCs) by merozoite. Moreover, calcium is also required

for intraerythrocytic development especially during the transition of rings to trophozoites [113](Fig. 3). Calcium concentration show dynamic changes as the parasite develops inside the RBC (Fig. 3) [92] and correlates well with the critical functional roles of different CDPKs especially during transition to the subsequent developmental stages. For example, high $[Ca^{2+}]$ in merozoites is required for activation of CDPK1 and CDPK5 for invasion and egress of the parasite, respectively during blood stages [9,32]. The calcium ion concentration in the RBC is consistently low ($\sim 100 \text{ nM}$) [3]. To counter the low calcium availability, parasitized RBCs show markedly increased calcium uptake, perhaps by expressing ion channels of parasite origin on the surface of infected RBCs [30]. Additionally, the parasite uses Ca²⁺ ATPases derived from the plasma membrane of RBCs to pump calcium inside the parasitophorous vacuole [43]. During the start of second infection cycle, the parasitophorous vacuole serves as a calcium store house that is important for the initial establishment of infection in a niche with an unfavorable ionic environment [43]. Depletion of the parasitophorous vacuole calcium level, even for a short duration, is significantly detrimental for intraerythrocytic development of the parasite [43]. Two key parasite organelles responsible for maintaining the intracellular pool of calcium are the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and acidic compartments [3,15]. A plant-like sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) of the parasite transfers cytoplasmic calcium to the ER [3]. Like in higher eukaryotic cells, the malaria parasite also possesses inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate (InsP3) sensitive calcium stores, one being the ER and the other being the digestive food vacuole [93,11]. It is widely accepted in the malaria field that protein kinase G (PKG) acts as a unifying signal in controlling calcium surges at different time points of the parasite life cycle. PKG controls the biosynthesis of phosphoinositides including the precursor of InsP3 that mediates calcium release from intracellular stores [16]. Calcium is also stored in alternate locations such as mitochondria [42,98,109], and acidocalcisomes [80]. However, the precise signaling molecules that mediate release of calcium from these organelles remain elusive.



Fig. 3. Calcium concentration across different stages of intraerythrocytic *Plasmodium falciparum* development. Basal level of cytosolic calcium ion concentration according to the proportion at different stages of *P. falciparum* development inside the red blood cells is represented as a pie chart and the absolute values [92] are tabulated underneath.

Calcium is also an important mediator that controls the phenomenon of circadian rhythm. Circadian rhythm is critical for maintaining homeostasis of various physiological processes inside the host. Calcium has been shown to control melatonin induced circadian rhythm in the malaria parasite. Calcium controlled circadian rhythm plays an important role in *in vivo* synchronization of parasite during vertebrate infection [49]. How a surge in intracellular calcium brought about by melatonin is transformed into downstream molecular events associated with parasite growth and development is not completely understood. Whether melatonin induced calcium waves are propagated downstream by CDPKs needs to be investigated.

4. CDPKs and asexual intra-erythrocytic development of malaria parasite

Asexual intra-erythrocytic development of malaria parasite begins with the invasion of a naïve RBC by a free, viable merozoite. Invasion of RBC by a merozoite is a complex, multistep process that necessitates coordinated and sequential release of parasite ligands [104,114] stored in apical organelles called micronemes, rhoptries and dense granules (Fig. 4). Upon successful invasion of host RBC, the merozoite gets surrounded by the host plasma membrane that is extensively modified by the developing parasite as it transforms into ring, trophozoite and schizont stage. The mature schizont bursts releasing 16–32 motile merozoites into the blood stream. These merozoites result in propagation of the infection cycle. Depending on the *Plasmodium* species, the asexual replication cycle could vary from 48 to 72 hr.

CDPKs play critical roles at various stages of the malaria parasite asexual replication cycle inside RBCs (Fig. 4, Table 1). CDPK1 mediates release of micronemes during invasion of RBC by merozoite and as such blocking its activity results in decrease of microneme discharge and subsequent invasion of RBCs [9]. The molecular mechanisms of CDPK1 mediated microneme discharge and invasion are not completely understood. However, existing data suggests it is involved in the phosphorylation of components of motor and inner membrane complexes [48,65]. In addition, cross talk between CDPK1 and Protein Kinase A plays a critical role during the invasion process [65]. A recent study has demonstrated that phosphorylation of RhopH3 is critical for invasion of RBCs, correct localization in rhoptries and discharge during invasion [33]. It has been suggested that phosphorylation of RhopH3 is mediated by CDPK1 [33]. A recent elegant study by More et al., demonstrates formation of a multimeric complex in merozoites involving phosphorylated CDPK1, regulatory subunit of PKA (PKAr) and Pf14-3-3I that plays a critical role in the invasion process and microneme discharge [79]. These studies suggest an essential role for CDPK1 in



Fig. 4. *Plasmodium falciparum* CDPKs play essential roles during merozoite invasion and parasite development inside red blood cells. Invasion of RBC by merozoite involve different stimuli including specific parasite ligands with cognate host cell receptors (for review see ref. [40,41] and low extracellular K + concentration. These signalling events result in activation of protein kinase A (PKA) and protein kinase G (PKG) through formation of cyclic AMP and cyclic GMP by adenylyl cyclase (AC) and guanylyl cyclase (GC), respectively. The downstream events include cAMP-dependent and cGMP-dependent Ca²⁺ mobilisation from internal stores leading to activation of CDPK1 that results in release of selected apical organelles called micronemes. Release of microneme content is critical for successful invasion of host RBCs. CDPK4 has also been shown to mediate invasion by cooperating with CDPK1 and PKG. CDPK5 deficient parasites could be rescued from egress defect by artificial activation of PKG through compensatory mechanisms that may involve other CDPK5 such as CDPK1 or CDPK4. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

asexual proliferation of the parasite and as such, corroborates well with the inability to delete CDPK1 in the WT parasite background. However, recent studies by Bansal et al., suggest a strategy that employs gradual adaptation of mutant parasites lacking a functional copy of CDPK1 to study its biomolecular properties [7,6]. Reduction in kinase activity of CDPK1 through genetically engineered endogenous mutant CDPK1 with a different gatekeeper residue led to alterations in the expression level of other CDPK family members. Molecular adaptations of mutant CDPK1 expressing *P. falciparum* with reduced kinase activity suggests evolution of compensatory mechanisms by the parasite [8]. Due to preadaptation of the parasites for reduced activity of mutant CDPK1, the mutant gene could be successfully knocked out [6] while repeated attempts failed to disrupt the WT cdpk1 [59,106,6]. Phosphorylation of CDPK1 in Plasmodium has been shown to follow PKG dependent signaling pathway. Abrogation of PKG activity through chemical genetics resulted in decrease of CDPK1 phosphorylation implicating PKG as an upstream kinase that directly or indirectly mediates phosphorylation of downstream CDPK1 protein. In vitro experiments with recombinant PKG identified S64 and T231 as putative phosphorylation sites in recombinant CDPK1. It has been suggested that the activity of CDPK1 in the parasite is controlled by PKG via phosphorylation of T231 residue in the activation loop of CDPK1. However, phosphorylation of T231 was not observed in the global PKG dependent phosphoproteome in vivo. Paradoxically, PKG dependent S64 phosphorylation of CDPK1 that was also identified in vivo did not affect the kinase activity of CDPK1. Interestingly, preferential localization of phosphorylated CDPK1 at the apical end of merozoites is indicative that phosphorylation dependent spaciotemporal modulation and formation of higher

molecular weight complexes is crucial for parasite invasion of RBCs [2,79]. Overall, molecular details of CDPK1 mediated apical organelle discharge and invasion are not very well understood and needs further investigation.

In addition to the phosphorylation of CDPK1, PKG cooperates with CDPK5 to mediate egress of merozoites from mature schizonts [32,1]. Destabilization-domain mediated down-regulation of CDPK5 was demonstrated to critically affect the egress process [32]. The trapped merozoites within CDPK5 knock-down parasites when released through physical rupture were competent for invasion of fresh RBCs suggesting no role of CDPK5 in invasion or it could also be possible that the residual amount of CDPK5 in the mutant parasites was sufficient for invasion [32]. Interestingly, the block in egress due to CDPK5 down-regulation could be rescued by artificial activation of PfPKG [1]. It has been hypothesized that the basal activity of PKG in CDPK5 down regulated parasites could not allow complete processing of egress related ligands that could only be possible in presence of CDPK5 or artificial upregulation of PKG activity [1]. These results suggest that like CDPK1 [8,6], parasites may also adapt for loss of CDPK5. This hypothesis needs to be further evaluated and if proven would again highlight remarkable adaptability of malaria parasite for loss of important genes. Compensatory adaptations have also been reported in mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) homologues, pfmap-1 and pfmap-2; another *Plasmodium* kinase family [31]. Furthermore, it would be of interest to identify the substrates of CDPK5 in WT parasites and the mutant parasite with decreased level of CDPK5 under normal and PKG upregulated conditions. This may help in understanding the compensatory pathway in CDPK5 downregulated parasites. These compensatory adaptations are likely to

be missed in experiments that rely on conditional knock-out or instantaneous block in activity of the kinase using pharmacological inhibitors. Taken together, these observations strongly suggest rewiring of calcium effectors that is evident in case of CDPK1 [8,6], CDPK3 [78], CDPK4 [35] and CDPK5 [1].

CDPK4 is predominantly involved in controlling microgametogenesis [36] however, the dependence on CDPK4 for efficient invasion of RBCs became strikingly evident in the background of hypomorphic PKG that is conserved in human and rodent malarias [35]. A genetic screen to identify important interactions between protein kinases during parasite replication within RBC demonstrated critical dependence of the parasite on CDPK4 under conditions where PKG mediated calcium signaling was compromised [35]. Under these conditions, phosphorylation of components belonging to the inner membrane complex was observed suggesting an important role for CDPK4 dependent phosphorylation of certain motor complex proteins [35]. Under normal conditions, PKG mediated increase in intracellular calcium activates CDPK1 and possibly CDPK4 resulting in invasion of RBCs. In the background of hypomorphic alleles of CDPK1 or PKG, the role of CDPK4 becomes critically important as it complements the function of CDPK1 possibly in conjunction with other members of CDPK family [35,8]. It is important to note that viable parasites were obtained with disrupted CDPK4 in both P. falciparum and P. berghei [59,12,108,44,35] suggesting, perhaps, functional compensation by other kinases during blood stage replication. This emphasizes overlapping roles of distinct CDPKs in physiologically important processes. Furthermore, CDPK2, CDPK3, and CDPK6 are dispensable for asexual proliferation of human malaria parasite, P. falciparum [7,106,117]. Apart from the role of CDPKs in invasion and egress of the parasite during blood stages, an atypical member of this family in P. falciparum, CDPK7, has been shown to mediate transition of rings to trophozoites [64]. Hence, CDPK family is important in entry, exit and progression of malaria parasite during asexual replication within RBCs. We have tabulated (Table 2) the essentiality status of different CDPKs for asexual blood replication of P. fal*ciparum* and *P. berghei* based on large scale functional profiling studies [17,117]. Observed differences pertaining to the essentiality of certain CDPKs in blood stage proliferation of P. falciparum and P. berghei may be attributed to species specific differences and/or in vitro and in vivo methods, respectively, for culturing the blood stages.

5. CDPKs and sexual development of malaria parasites

Malaria parasite undergoes distinct and complex morphological modifications that allow the parasite to survive under different host environment and switch from one host to the next. The role of individual plasmodial CDPKs in the asexual growth of the parasite inside RBCs has been studied appreciably compared to its developmental stages in mosquito and vertebrate hepatocytes. Most of the studies on understanding the function of CDPKs in sexual development of the parasite have been performed on the rodent malaria parasite, P. berghei. However, highly conserved amino acid sequences of individual CDPK between different Plasmodium species is suggestive of biochemical functional similarities for each enzyme especially in the sexual stage development. It is believed that in all cases, mosquito specific factors play crucial role in formation of gametes inside the mosquito midgut. Two independent studies identified xanthurenic acid as the mosquito factor responsible for exflagellation, the process of microgamete formation [13,38]. Exflagellation has been classically studied under in vitro conditions: ambient temperature and alkaline pH (8.0) (for review see [103]. Extracts prepared from different parts of mosquito showed that the requirement for alkaline pH could be

Table 2

Essentiality status of calcium dependent protein kinases of *P. falciparum* [117] and *P. berghei* [17] for asexual blood replication.

Gene Identifier	CDPK	Essentiality	References*
P. falciparum			
PF3D7_0217500	calcium-dependent	Essential†	[59,106,8,6]
	protein kinase 1		
PF3D7_0610600	calcium-dependent	Dispensable	[7]
PF3D7 0310100	colcium-dependent	Dispensable	[106]
11507_0510100	protein kinase 3	Dispensable	[100]
PF3D7_0717500	calcium-dependent	Dispensable	[59,35]
	protein kinase 4	-	
PF3D7_1337800	calcium-dependent	Essential	[32]
DE2DE 4422000	protein kinase 5	5. 11	
PF3D7_1122800	calcium-dependent	Dispensable	
PF3D7 1123100	calcium-dependent	Essential	[64]
	protein kinase 7		[]
P. berghei	-		
PBANKA_0314200	calcium-dependent	Dispensable	[56,44]
	protein kinase 1	5. 11	[100.100.11]
PBANKA_0408200	calcium-dependent	Dispensable	[102,108,44]
PBANKA 0615200	calcium-dependent	Significantly	[12,108,44,35]
	protein kinase 4	slow [#]	[,]
PBANKA_1351500	calcium-dependent	Essential	[108,44]
	protein kinase 5		
PBANKA_0925500	calcium-dependent	Significantly	[108,44]
PRANKA 0925200	protein kinase b	SIOW	[108 44]
1 5/1110 _0323200	protein kinase 7	Losential	[100,11]
	*		

^{*} Additional studies that support the essentiality status of CDPKs for blood stage replication.

[#] Knock-out parasites were obtained.

Knock-out was obtained in the mutant parasite background.

substituted but reduced temperature is critical for microgamete formation [14,87,39]. Increase in cytosolic cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) and intracellular calcium mobilization are essential for successful exflagellation [60,62]. Xanthurenic acid results in activation of guanylyl cyclase in mature gametocytes [82] that in turn leads to increase in intracellular calcium concentration [61,74] thereby leading to the activation of CDPK4 [12] and perhaps other CDPKs as well [7,6] (Fig. 5). CDPK4 is critical for regulating key processes during microgametocyte exflagellation such as cell cycle regulation, cytoskeletal rearrangements leading to axoneme and mitotic spindle formation [12,36]. Mimicking the conditions that prevail inside the mosquito midgut increases the activity of PfCDPK4, an ortholog of PbCDPK4 in P. falciparum [58]. As such, PfCDPK4 was found to be critical for exflagellation of P. falciparum microgametocytes [90] as its ortholog in P. berghei. Moreover, CDPK4 is also critical for ookinete infectivity in mosquitoes. Viable ookinetes could only be obtained upon cross-fertilization of macrogametes of CDPK4 KO with microgametes of a parasite strain with P25 and P28 genes deleted [12]. Both these strains are incapable of infecting mosquitoes individually either due to no formation of ookinetes (in case of CDPK4 KO parasites) or formation of unproductive ookinetes (in case of P25/P28 KO parasites). The P25/P28 positive ookinetes obtained from the cross of \odot CDPK4 KO $\times d\Delta p25/\Delta p28$ parasites could only establish 1.8% of wt infection in the mosquitoes highlighting possible role of CDPK4 in the ookinete infectivity [12]. In addition to the role of CDPK4 in ookinete infectivity, it is also important for efficient ookinete gliding. The role of CDPK4 in ookinete gliding becomes appreciably significant in the background of hypomorphic PKG. Increase in intracellular calcium downstream of PKG-activation supports phosphorylation of glideosome complex by CDPK1 and CDPK4 that in combination with the activation of CDPK3 results in ookinete gliding and possibly subsequent invasion of midgut cells [35].

Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 19 (2021) 5092-5107



Fig. 5. Sexual and pre-erythrocytic development of *Plasmodium falciparum* and role of CDPKs. a) Mature gametocytes taken up during blood meal by an *Anopheles* mosquito encounter drop in temperature, and xanthurenic acid (XA) that triggers elevation of cGMP levels by guanylyl cyclase (GC) that results in activation of protein kinase G (PKG). Activation of PKG is followed by calcium release from intracellular stores through PLC mediated pathway that involves generation of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate. The elevated calcium results in activation of CDPK1, CDPK2, and CDPK4 that play critical roles in gametogenesis. b) Once ookinetes are formed from zygote, CDPK1, CDPK3, and CDPK4 help in gliding motility and invasion of mid-gut epithelium by ookinetes thereby playing a crucial role in ookinete infectivity and oocysts development. CDPK3 is critical for discharge of micronemes in ookinetes. c) Once *Plasmodium* sporozoites are deposited in the dermis, they migrate from the site of inoculation to blood stream to ultimately reach the liver sinusoids. CDPK1, CDPK4, and CDPK5 help the sporozoite in gliding motility. The sporozoites infect hepatocytes by first traversing the endothelial cells (EC) of liver sinusoids and enter the Space of Disse. Sporozoites interact with the hepatocytes due to the presence of highly sulfated heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG) on the surface of hepatocytes. The initial interaction of CSP on the sporozoite surface with highly sulfated HSPG on hepatocytes activates CDPK6 that finally results in proteolytic cleavage of CSP and stronger interaction of CSP with highly sulphated HSPGs. These events result in switching the sporozoites however molecular details remain largely unexplored.

Importantly, CDPK1 and CDPK4 individually are redundant for gliding motility of ookinetes [36,90,35].

CDPK1 and CDPK2 are also critical regulators of gametogenesis in malaria parasite. Disruption of CDPK1 and CDPK2 leads to defect in gamete formation. Upon in vitro induction of mature gametocytes, the parasites without CDPK1 and CDPK2 are not able to disintegrate the RBC membrane and remain trapped inside the host cells [7,6]. While CDPK2 seems to have a role only in male gametocyte exflagellation [7], CDPK1 seems to be essential for gametogenesis in both male and female parasites [6]. Interestingly, after induction of the CDPK1 KO parasites, no rounding up is evident in the female gametes suggesting that the block is in a step preceding RBC rupture [6]. The exact molecular mechanisms used by CDPK1 and CDPK2 in controlling gametogenesis need to be investigated as it may provide novel targets for drug development. Moreover, it would be interesting to compare the substrates of CDPK1 and CDPK2 in gametogenesis since both enzymes are involved in the same physiological event of male gamete formation along with CDPK4. Therefore, complete understanding of molecular signaling mechanisms associated with the exflagellation process may help in identification and validation of novel drug targets for blocking malaria transmission.

In rodent malaria parasite, CDPK1 has been demonstrated as an important factor that allows translational activation of repressed mRNAs in the zygote stage for proper transformation into ookinetes [100]. A contrasting role for CDPK1 in *P. falciparum* is evident in the asexual stage of the parasite wherein KO of CDPK1 leads to transcriptional dysregulation of gametocyte specific genes [6]. Dysregulated gene expression evident in mutant parasites without

CDPK1 in *P. falciparum* and *P. berghei* could be an indirect consequence of transcriptional and translational dysregulation of transcription factor ApiAP2G and AP2-O, respectively. Altogether, these observations strongly implicate role of CDPKs in controlling gene expression patterns across different developmental stages of parasite growth as has been observed in plants [63,86,53].

CDPK3 was shown to be transcriptionally upregulated in the sexual stages of parasite suggesting possible role for this kinase in parasite development inside the invertebrate host [69]. PbCDPK3, a homolog of PfCDPK3 in P. berghei, was demonstrated as a critical component for efficient gliding [102] and successful invasion of mosquito midgut epithelium by ookinetes [102,54]. While one study concluded that CDPK3 does not play a role in gliding [54], Siden-Kiamos et al., showed CDPK3 to be a critical factor for gliding motility of ookinetes [102]. They demonstrated that CDPK3 KO ookinetes were unable to be dispersed from the aggregates when co-cultured with insect cells in vitro [102]. The block in establishing a productive infection in mosquitoes by CDPK3 KO parasites was shown to be due to inability of the KO parasites to breach the physical barrier of mosquito midgut epithelium [102] perhaps due to inability of microneme discharge in CDPK3 KO parasites [35]. Hence, parasites lacking CDPK3 produce non-functional ookinetes that do not transform into oocysts [108]. Direct injection of CDPK3 KO parasites into the haemocoel allowed the KO parasites to produce infectious salivary gland sporozoites similar to the WT [102]. The CDPK3 KO parasites grew as well as the WT in the asexual stages and did not show any effect up till the conversion of mature female gametocytes to ookinetes [102]. Moreover, the CDPK3 KO sporozoites demonstrated equally efficient motility

and subsequent infectivity in mice [102] suggesting no perceptible role of CDPK3 in these processes.

6. CDPKs and pre-erythrocytic phase of malaria parasite development

Pre-erythrocytic phase of malaria parasite life cycle starts when infectious sporozoites are injected by an infected female Anopheles mosquito into the dermis of a naïve individual. The sporozoites are deposited in the skin along with saliva that helps in preventing coagulation of blood during blood-meal. After intradermal deposition, sporozoites traverse through the dermis and endothelial cells by gliding motility that is powered by the conserved actomyosin motor. After traversing through epithelial and endothelial cells, the sporozoites eventually switch from migratory to invasive mode that results in productive infection of the host hepatocytes by formation of exoerythrocytic forms (EEFs) surrounded by an intact parasitophorous vacuole. Parasite develops inside the hepatocyte and undergoes asexual schizogony with formation of hundreds and thousands of hepatic merozoites. As an immune evasion mechanism, hepatic merozoites are released from infected cells as merosomes, packets of hundreds of parasites surrounded by host cell membranes. Merosome packaging protects hepatic merozoites from phagocytic attack by sinusoidal Kupffer cells, and release into the lung microvasculature enhances the chance of successful erythrocyte invasion. Calcium accumulation by the hepatic merozoites ensures low host cytoplasmic calcium concentration that prevents phosphatidyl serine exposure on outer leaflet of the host cells that is a classical signal for cell apoptosis [107]. PKG has been shown to play a role in merosome formation and exit from hepatocytes. Considering that CDPKs are important effectors downstream to PKG signaling at various cross-roads of parasite development, PKG mediated merosome formation, and exit from host cells has been shown to be regulated by different CDPKs [45], discussed below. From the site of inoculation in dermis to hepatocyte invasion, a sporozoite traverses through different cell types until it switches to an invasive mode for productive infection of target hepatocyte. There is enough evidence to suggest that sulfation of heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) determines the mode of sporozoite entry of the host cell [96,28]. When host cells are decorated with low sulfated HSPGs, sporozoite show migration phenotype while highly sulfated HSPGs on the surface of host cells allow productive invasion. Interestingly, this correlates well with the sulfation pattern of the host cells that the sporozoites migrate through and invade. Proteolytic processing of major sporozoite surface protein, cirumsporozoite protein (CSP) is also important for switching to invasive phenotype [27]. Interaction of sporozoites with optimally decorated sulfated-HSPGs activates a signaling cascade involving CDPK6 [28]. This CDPK6 mediated signal transduction plays an important role in controlling the switch of sporozoites from migratory to invasive mode and is also interestingly involved in proteolytic processing of CSP [28]. It is worth noting that CDPK6 KO sporozoites show residual invasive phenotype that suggests some level of compensatory mechanism or involvement of an alternative inefficient pathway for invasion [28]. It would be interesting to test the invasion of hepatocytes with conditional knock-out of CDPK6.

Sporozoite motility is also controlled by dynamic changes in intracellular calcium levels [20]. Ca^{2+} flux regulates secretion of adhesins onto the sporozoite surface that mediate attachment to substratum, and turnover of adhesion sites between the sporozoite and the substrate is an important factor that controls the overall efficiency of sporozoite movement and invasion [85]. It is interesting to note that some level of migration also occurs in hepatocytes until the sporozoite establishes a productive infection in a target

hepatocyte [81]. The sporozoites need to express optimum levels of invasive ligands on their surface that are conditioned on migration through liver sinusoids and hepatocytes [105]. Taken together, highly sulfated HSPGs present on hepatocytes and endothelial cells of liver sinusoids engage the sporozoites through CSP that initiates a signaling cascade involving CDPK6 along with other kinases that ultimately results in cleavage of CSP and increased avidity of sporozoite interaction with host hepatocytes and culminates in productive invasion of the host cells [28].

An auxin-inducible degron (AID) system has been used to investigate the functional roles of various target genes in the preerythrocytic phase of parasite development. AID is a conditional knock down system that allows degradation of the target protein upon addition of the plant hormone, auxin (Indole3-acetic acid (IAA)) [88,94]. The system was initially established in P. berghei to study the functional role of a calcium dependent protein phosphatase called calcineurin and CDPK1 [94]. AID mediated depletion of CDPK1 corroborated earlier findings of the critical role of CDPK1 in normal morphology of ookinetes [100,94]. CDPK1 does not seem to have any evident role in sporozoite motility and invasion of hepatocytes [56]. However, AID mediated conditional degradation of CDPK1 had demonstrable and significant effects on the sporozoite motility and invasion of hepatocytes [45]. These observations show that results obtained from two conditional systems may differ due to different efficiencies of target gene knock-down using particular conditional systems. Therefore, data generated from conditional knock down strategies should be interpreted carefully for functional assignment of target genes. Similarly, results obtained from conditional knock down approach and generation of fixed hypomorphic mutants may lead to different functional outcomes. True physiological functions of target CDPKs are most likely to be picked with a robust conditional system, though it may be masked due to compensatory adaptations of the parasite during generation of permanent hypomorphic or null mutants.

AID fused CDPK1, CDPK4 and CDPK5 parasites were used for recovery of viable and infectious sporozoites from salivary glands. Conditional depletion of CDPK1, CDPK4 and CDPK5 resulted in loss of gliding motion without affecting waving and attachment to the substrate [45]. Interestingly, cell traversal by CDPK1 and CDPK5 depleted sporozoite was not affected [45]. However, pharmacological inhibition of WT CDPK4 using bumped kinase inhibitor 1294 (BKI-1294) suggested a role for CDPK4 in sporozoite motility [46]. Furthermore, invasion of HepG2 cells decreased substantially upon depletion of all the three CDPKs individually, suggesting the existence of partially overlapping functions between the 3 kinases during the invasion process (Fig. 4). Blocking the activity of CDPK4 using BKI-1294 [112] in CDPK1 or CDPK5 depleted parasites augmented the decrease in the number of intracellular liver stages 48 h post invasion of hepatocytes [45]. The available evidence suggests functional cooperativity among different CDPKs for regulating sporozoite invasion and subsequent development within hepatocytes. Artificial activation of PKG by augmenting cGMP concentration using a phosphodiesterase inhibitor called zaprinast rescued the defects in CDPK1 and CDPK5 knock down parasites. These findings recapitulate rescue of merozoites by artificial activation of PKG in CDPK5 depleted asexual stage parasites [1] and seems to suggest existence of compensatory adaptations in parasites for hypomorphic alleles [8,35]. Conditional knock-out of PKG (PKG-cKO) resulted in the arrest of parasites inside hepatocytes suggesting a role of PKG in either the formation of hepatic merozoites or their exit from hepatocytes via merosome formation [34,46]. Since CDPK5 acts downstream to PKG in mature schizonts and is a critical regulator of merozoite release from mature schizonts, pleiotropic role of CDPK5 was explored in exit of hepatic merozoites. Depletion of CDPK5 in liver stages reduced the number of merosomes and exit of hepatic merozoites. This corelated well

with a longer pre-patent period observed in the CDPK5 depleted parasite compared to vehicle control. Manually ruptured merosomes resulted in equivalent blood stage infection in both the CDPK5 depleted and control parasites demonstrating that CDPK5 depleted parasites block the exit of hepatic merozoites from merosomes [45].

7. Targeting CDPKs of malaria parasite for drug development and functional characterization

Orthologues of CDPKs are not encoded in human genome. Furthermore, CDPKs are critical for various physiological processes in the malaria parasite lifecycle [57]. Consequently, CDPKs have been considered as potentially good drug targets for the discovery of novel antimalarial agents (see reviews [18,77,83]. High throughput screening has led to the identification of different PfCDPK1 targeting inhibitory scaffolds including 2,3,9-trisubstituted purines [59], indolizines [68] and imidazopyridazines [68,47,4,22,23,66] (Table 3). Among these scaffolds, imidazopyridazines have been extensively studied compared to others. Imidazopyridazines can be classified into two groups based on the type of aromatic linker between the core and the R2 substituent [47]. Compounds containing the pyrimidine linker inhibit growth of *P. falciparum* at the late schizont stage while compounds with a non-pyrimidine linker inhibit trophozoites. Therefore, interruption of P. falciparum CDPK enzymes' signal transduction with small molecule inhibitors could be used as a potential strategy for developing effective therapeutic agents for treatment of malaria. Interestingly, poor correlation exists between the in vitro inhibition of recombinant CDPK1 protein and inhibition of parasite growth using imidazopyridazines [4]. Chemical genetics approach was used to conclude no perceptible role of CDPK1 in asexual parasite development [47] and inhibitory effect of imidazopyridazines was assigned largely due to inhibition of PKG [47,66] however, existence of compensatory mechanisms could not be ruled out in the transgenic parasites with hypomorphic alleles [8,35].

Although *Plasmodium* CDPKs regulate parasite-specific processes and orthologues are absent in mammalian cells; they still share high amino acid sequences and structural similarities with eukaryotic protein kinases in their ATP-binding sites. Selective targeting of Plasmodium CDPKs over mammalian kinases will therefore be important to avoid toxicity caused by off-target effects on host cell signaling or cell cycle regulation [90]. Analysis of protein kinase binding pockets for design of potent and selective kinase inhibitors suggests 5 domains within the ATP binding sites that can be occupied by a compound [70,89]. Of these 5 domains, the more widely reported examples of selective inhibitors are those that target a hydrophobic pocket adjoining an atypically small "gatekeeper residue" [90,67,26,75,111]. Several Apicomplexan CDPKs that are essential for maintenance of fundamental cellular processes and parasite survival have smaller gatekeeper residues creating an enlarged hydrophobic pocket. The enlarged gatekeeper hydrophobic pocket allows the binding of a series of inhibitors called bumped kinase inhibitors (BKIs) that project a bulky C-3 aromatic substituent (Fig. 6). Most of the mammalian kinases have larger gatekeeper residues that precludes the binding of the large C3-aryl substituent of BKIs and thus, these inhibitor BKIs have little to no effect against the host cell kinases.

A set of pyrazolopyrimidine BKI derivatives were shown to potently inhibit PfCDPK4 phosphorylation activities with high selectivity like the TgCDPK1 enzyme on which these compound designs were based (Fig. 6). These series of BKIs were designed using iterative reasoning within the context of X-ray crystallography and computational modeling to guide optimization with functional groups needed to improve potency, selectivity, and

pharmacokinetic properties based on BKIs targeting Toxoplasma gondii and Cryptosporidium parvum CDPK1 (CpCDPK1) [110], 2021, [91,112]. T. gondii and C. parvum are members of apicomplexan parasites that are known to cause human ailments such as toxoplasmosis [72] and cryptosporidiosis [95], respectively especially in people with weak immune system. Pyrazolopyrimidine based BKIs contain a C-3 bulky aromatic substituent which projects into the hydrophobic pocket adjacent to the gatekeeper position. These derivatives mainly inhibit male gametocytes exflagellation in P. falciparum and in P. berghei-infected mice. Formation of sporozoites in Anopheles stephensi mosquitoes decreased after feeding them on the pyrazolopyrimidine derivatives containing PfNF54 infected human blood. The 5-aminopyrazole-4carboxamide is another BKI inhibitor series capable of potentially inhibiting PfCDPK4 in the nanomolar range and which concomitantly inhibited exflagellation of male gametocytes [51]. Phenothiazine derivatives were identified as non-ATP-competitive inhibitors of PfCDPK4 among which Trifluoperazine (TFP) was considered to have a high binding affinity and Ki value for PfCDPK4 [21]. TFP binds to the calmodulin-like domain of PfCDPK4 which prevents repositioning of the autoinhibitory I-domain upon binding of Ca²⁺ and thus locking the kinase in its inactive conformation [21]. As CDPK4 has a predominant role in the sexual stage of the parasite, it is mainly considered as a target to inhibit transmission of the parasite between two hosts. The importance of developing an anti-malaria drug based on a transmission blocking strategy cannot be emphasized more since malaria is mostly transmitted to humans through the bites of female *Anopheles* mosquitoes [26].

Rout et al., screened the Malaria Box compounds to find potential inhibitors against CDPK5 [99]. This study led to the identification of MMV687246 that potentially inhibits the kinase activity of recombinant PfCDPK5 [99]. The effect of this compound on the malaria parasite and its specificity for CDPK5 need to be investigated further.

8. Targeting PfCDPKs with the autoinhibitory junction domain

In addition to the screening of small organic compounds as potential drugs for targeting CDPKs, the auto inhibitory junction domain has also been employed for inhibiting cognate CDPKs [5,37,9]. Under basal calcium level, the J domain acts as a pseudosubstrate and inhibits the kinase activity of CDPK by blocking the active site of the enzyme. Binding of Ca²⁺ with EF-hands, triggers a conformational change in CAD that allows new intramolecular interactions and release the autoinhibitory constraints imparted by the J domain on the kinase domain. Using the inhibitory mechanism of the J domain, Flaherty and co-worker designed a strategy to inhibit PfCDPK1 activity using the inhibitory JDD (J domain disruptor) peptide that mimics the C-terminal region of the J domain and thus allosterically inhibits PfCDPK1 by locking it in an inactive conformation [37]. Alignment of the J domains of all PfCDPK proteins shows low conservation at the amino acid level, suggesting that a JDD peptide may be used for selective inhibition of the cognate CDPK. On the basis of these alignments and previous studies, the C-terminal region of the I domain strongly binds and inhibits the activity of CDPK1 [37,9]. A peptide corresponding to the Cterminal region of the I domain was used for inhibiting the kinase activity of CDPK1 [9]. The peptide, when used in increasing concentrations, resulted in a dose dependent decrease in formation of ring stage parasites. This was the first report that directly demonstrated the essential role of CDPK1 in the invasion of RBCs by merozoites. Additionally, controlled, ectopic expression of the complete PfCDPK1 J-domain with a GFP tag was used to understand the functional role of the kinase in the parasite [5].

M. Sharma, H. Choudhury, R. Roy et al.

Table 3

Small	organic	inhibitors	against	different	Plasmodium	falciparum	CDPKs
	<u> </u>						







9. Multi-kinase targeting approach to identify potent antiplasmodial inhibitors

To develop novel, multi-target anti-plasmodial drug candidates, Lima et al., developed a computational approach which helped in identification of multi-kinase inhibitors against PfCDPK1. PfCDPK4 and PK6 [71]. Shape-based and machine learning models were developed to find the potential target molecule, and the best model was selected for virtual screening of a large number of databases consisting of drug-like molecules. From this study, ten hits were identified, among which LabMol-171, LabMol-172, and LabMol-181 showed potent inhibitory activity against blood stages of multi-drug resistant parasites at nanomolar concentrations. In vitro evaluation of these hits against drug-sensitive (3D7) and multidrug-resistant (Dd2) P. falciparum parasites showed that these molecules can inhibit the growth of both drug-sensitive (3D7) and multidrug-resistant parasites [71]. BKI-1294 is another example of a multi-targeting inhibitor that has been shown to block malaria transmission with EC_{50} values of 10 nM, 100 nM and 200 nM against PfCDPK4, PfCDPK1 and PfPKG, respectively [46,91,90]. Targeting multiple enzymes with single or multiple agents may help in overcoming compensatory adaptations by malaria parasite and is likely to increase the efficiency of malaria control and elimination efforts.

10. Use of chemical genetics to understand the functional roles of CDPKs

The gatekeeper position in the ATP binding pocket of kinase domains has been exploited for understanding the function of CDPKs using a chemical genetics approach. The gatekeeper position is usually constituted of an amino acid with a bulky side chain. Genetic approaches to substitute the bulky amino acid with smaller gatekeeper residues sensitizes the mutant enzyme for BKIs. Substitution with a smaller gatekeeper residue results in enlargement of the hydrophobic pocket that accommodates the ATP purine group in the ATP-binding site. BKIs contain a bulky C3-aryl substituent that can occupy this enlarged ATP-binding hydrophobic pocket. Amongst the P. falciparum CDPKs, CDPK1 and CDPK4 have smaller gatekeeper residues (i.e., serine and threonine, respectively) compared to CDPK2 (methionine), CDPK3 (methionine), and CDPK5 (leucine) that have larger gatekeeper residues. Small gatekeeper residues in CDPK1 and CDPK4 have been exploited to study the functional role of these kinases in the parasite biology. WT CDPK4 containing a serine gatekeeper is inhibited by BKI-1 and BKI-1294, and treatment of mature gametocytes with BKIs leads to defects in male gametocyte exflagellation under both in vitro and in vivo conditions [91], (Ojo et al., 2014). BKI-1294 was further used to demonstrate role of CDPK4 at multiple stages of



Fig. 6. Structural model to simulate binding motifs of PfCDPK4 enzyme with BKI-1 was based on previous crystal structures of *Tg*CDPK1 co-crystallized with the same inhibitor (PDB3sx9). The 2-ethoxynaphthyl functional group of BKI-1 projected into the hydrophobic pocket adjacent the gatekeeper residue. Some level of conservation within the ATP binding cavity is shown by the alignments of TgCDPK1 prODPK4 and PfCDPK4 amino acid residues proposed to interact with BKI-1 are presented below the model image. BKIs designed against TgCDPK1 that also inhibit PfCDPK4 can also have some inhibition of PfCDPK1 based on similarities of residues that contact the compound. The bars at the top represent the relative contribution of atoms in each amino acid moiety to the surface area of within TgCDPK1 binding site. Residues that are not conserved between the 3 enzymes are shaded grey. The gatekeeper residues for the 3 proteins are boxed in. Amino acid residue numbering is based on TgCDPK1 sequence.

genome replication during male gametogenesis [36]. Substitution of smaller gatekeeper in CDPK4 (S147M) imparted resistance against BKI-1294 treatment and results in increased EC_{50} value of exflagellation [90,36]. Furthermore, BKI-1294 was used to show cooperativity between CDPK1 and CDPK4 in controlling gliding motility in ookinetes [35]. Altogether, these studies provided a proof-of-concept that BKIs may be combined along with existing anti-malarial regimen for blocking malaria transmission. Similarly, screening of BKI inhibitors against WT CDPK1 resulted in a BKI that specifically inhibited the WT enzyme while showing an increased IC_{50} value against the mutant CDPK1 that contains a bulky gatekeeper residue [8]. These studies demonstrate the utility of chemical genetics in understanding the physiological function of CDPKs, especially under conditions where genetic manipulation may not be feasible [46,45].

11. Summary and outlook

CDPKs have distinct and partially overlapping functions across some stages of malaria parasite development. This is particularly evident in processes that are crucial for the transmission of the parasite. A conserved set of CDPKs are however employed by zoites for invasion of host cells, and there seems to be less overlap in the requirement of CDPKs, especially during invasion of RBCs by merozoites where CDPK1 plays a critical role. However, the relative contribution of CDPKs may vary at different stages or biological processes. There is a large body of evidence to suggest employment of compensatory adaptations by mutant parasites having hypomorphic alleles of kinases belonging to multigene families. There is a need to identify the functional roles of CDPKs through techniques that do not provide sufficient time for parasites to adapt. Moreover, a comprehensive set of CDPKs that are employed in a physiological process needs to be deciphered as it would provide a guide on what CDPKs need to be targeted to overcome undesired compensatory events. This emphasizes the need to target two functionally complementary CDPKs rather than one as it may avoid development of resistance by the parasite. Complete understanding of the signaling cascades employing CDPKs would therefore help in designing better strategies for targeting malaria parasites.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Manish Sharma: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation. Himashree Choudhury: Data curation. Rajarshi Roy: Data curation. Samantha A. Michaels: Writing-review & editing. Kayode K. Ojo: Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing-review & editing. Abhisheka Bansal: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Writing-review & editing.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge the support from Department of Biotechnology (BT/PR28256/MED/29/1313/2018), Science & Engineering Research Board (CRG/2018/002533) and University Grants Commission (F.30-433/2018(BSR)) provided to AB for conducting studies that are directly or indirectly related to the theme of this review. Fellowship provided to MS from Council for Scientific and Industrial Research is also acknowledged. The funders have no role in the design and decision for publishing this review. We also greatly appreciate useful discussion and technical help provided by Ethan A. Merritt. We also acknowledge the feedback received from Louis H. Miller on the initial draft of the review. We regret for not being able to cite studies of all other colleagues working on the subject of the review.

References

- Absalon S, Blomqvist K, Rudlaff RM, Delano TJ, Pollastri MP, Dvorin JD. Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase 5 Is Required for Release of Egress-Specific Organelles in. mBio 2018:9.
- [2] Alam MM, Solyakov L, Bottrill AR, Flueck C, Siddiqui FA, Singh S, et al. Phosphoproteomics reveals malaria parasite Protein Kinase G as a signalling hub regulating egress and invasion. Nat Commun 2015;6:7285.
- [3] Alleva LM, Kirk K. Calcium regulation in the intraerythrocytic malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Mol Biochem Parasitol 2001;117:121–8.
- [4] Ansell KH, Jones HM, Whalley D, Hearn A, Taylor DL, Patin EC, et al. Biochemical and antiparasitic properties of inhibitors of the Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase PfCDPK1. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2014;58:6032–43.
- [5] Azevedo MF, Sanders PR, Krejany E, Nie CQ, Fu P, Bach LA, et al. Inhibition of Plasmodium falciparum CDPK1 by conditional expression of its J-domain demonstrates a key role in schizont development. Biochem J 2013;452:433–41.
- [6] Bansal A, Molina-Cruz A, Brzostowski J, Liu P, Luo Y, Gunalan K, et al. CDPK1 is critical for malaria parasite gametogenesis and mosquito infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2018;115:774–9.
- [7] Bansal A, Molina-Cruz A, Brzostowski J, Mu J, Miller LH. Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase 2 Is Critical for Male Gametocyte Exflagellation but Not Essential for Asexual Proliferation. mBio 2017:8.
- [8] Bansal A, Ojo KK, Mu J, Maly DJ, Van Voorhis WC, Miller LH, et al. Reduced Activity of Mutant Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase 1 Is Compensated in Plasmodium falciparum through the Action of Protein Kinase G. mBio 2016;7 (6). https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02011-16.
- [9] Bansal A, Singh S, More KR, Hans D, Nangalia K, Yogavel M, et al. Characterization of Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase 1 (PfCDPK1) and its role in microneme secretion during erythrocyte invasion. J Biol Chem 2013;288:1590–602.

- [10] Bender KW, Zielinski RE, Huber SC. Revisiting paradigms of Ca. Biochem J 2018;475:207–23.
- [11] Biagini GA, Bray PG, Spiller DG, White MR, Ward SA. The digestive food vacuole of the malaria parasite is a dynamic intracellular Ca2+ store. J Biol Chem 2003;278:27910–5.
- [12] Billker O, Dechamps S, Tewari R, Wenig G, Franke-Fayard B, Brinkmann V. Calcium and a calcium-dependent protein kinase regulate gamete formation and mosquito transmission in a malaria parasite. Cell 2004;117:503–14.
- [13] Billker O, Lindo V, Panico M, Etienne AE, Paxton T, Dell A, et al. Identification of xanthurenic acid as the putative inducer of malaria development in the mosquito. Nature 1998;392:289–92.
- [14] Billker O, Shaw MK, Margos G, Sinden RE. The roles of temperature, pH and mosquito factors as triggers of male and female gametogenesis of Plasmodium berghei in vitro. Parasitology 1997;115(Pt 1):1–7.
- [15] Borges-Pereira L, Thomas SJ, Dos Anjos E Silva AL, Bartlett PJ, Thomas AP, Garcia CRS. The genetic Ca. J Biol Chem 2020;295:14998–5012.
- [16] Brochet Mathieu, Collins Mark O, Smith Terry K, Thompson Eloise, Sebastian Sarah, Volkmann Katrin, et al. Phosphoinositide metabolism links cGMPdependent protein kinase G to essential Ca²⁺ signals at key decision points in the life cycle of malaria parasites. PLoS Biol 2014;12(3):e1001806.
- [17] Bushell E, Gomes AR, Sanderson T, Anar B, Girling G, Herd C, et al. Functional Profiling of a Plasmodium Genome Reveals an Abundance of Essential Genes. Cell 2017;170:260–272.e8.
- [18] Cabrera DG, Horatscheck A, Wilson CR, Basarab G, Eyermann CJ, Chibale K. Plasmodial Kinase Inhibitors: License to Cure? J Med Chem 2018;61:8061–77.
- [19] Carafoli E, Krebs J. Why Calcium? How Calcium Became the Best Communicator. J Biol Chem 2016;291:20849–57.
- [20] Carey AF, Singer M, Bargieri D, Thiberge S, Frischknecht F, Ménard R, et al. Calcium dynamics of Plasmodium berghei sporozoite motility. Cell Microbiol 2014;16:768–83.
- [21] Cavagnino A, Rossi F, Rizzi M. The potent antiplasmodial calmodulinantagonist trifluoperazine inhibits plasmodium falciparum calciumdependent protein kinase 4. Protein Pept Lett 2011;18:1273–9.
- [22] Chapman TM, Osborne SA, Bouloc N, Large JM, Wallace C, Birchall K, et al. Substituted imidazopyridazines are potent and selective inhibitors of Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase 1 (PfCDPK1). Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2013;23:3064–9.
- [23] Chapman TM, Osborne SA, Wallace C, Birchall K, Bouloc N, Jones HM, et al. Optimization of an imidazopyridazine series of inhibitors of Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase 1 (PfCDPK1). J Med Chem 2014;57:3570–87.
- [24] Chen F, Zhang L, Cheng ZM. The calmodulin fused kinase novel gene family is the major system in plants converting Ca. Sci Rep 2017;7:4127.
- [25] Chen M, Ni L, Chen J, Sun M, Qin C, Zhang G, et al. Rice calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase directly phosphorylates a mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase to regulate abscisic acid responses. Plant Cell 2021.
- [26] Choi R, Michaels SA, Onu EC, Hulverson MA, Saha A, Coker ME, Weeks JC, Van Voorhis WC, Ojo KK. Taming the Boys for Global Good: Contraceptive Strategy to Stop Malaria Transmission. Molecules 2020;25.
- [27] Coppi A, Pinzon-Ortiz C, Hutter C, Sinnis P. The Plasmodium circumsporozoite protein is proteolytically processed during cell invasion. J Exp Med 2005;201:27–33.
- [28] Coppi A, Tewari R, Bishop JR, Bennett BL, Lawrence R, Esko JD, et al. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans provide a signal to Plasmodium sporozoites to stop migrating and productively invade host cells. Cell Host Microbe 2007;2:316–27.
- [29] Cremer T, Neefjes J, Berlin I. The journey of Ca. J Cell Sci 2020;133.
- [30] Desai SA, McCleskey EW, Schlesinger PH, Krogstad DJ. A novel pathway for Ca ++ entry into Plasmodium falciparum-infected blood cells. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1996;54:464–70.
- [31] Dorin-Semblat D, Quashie N, Halbert J, Sicard A, Doerig C, Peat E, et al. Functional characterization of both MAP kinases of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum by reverse genetics. Mol Microbiol 2007;65:1170–80.
- [32] Dvorin JD, Martyn DC, Patel SD, Grimley JS, Collins CR, Hopp CS, et al. A plantlike kinase in Plasmodium falciparum regulates parasite egress from erythrocytes. Science 2010;328:910–2.
- [33] Ekka R, Gupta A, Bhatnagar S, Malhotra P, Sharma P. Phosphorylation of Rhoptry Protein RhopH3 Is Critical for Host Cell Invasion by the Malaria. Parasite. 2020;mBio:11.
- [34] Falae A, Combe A, Amaladoss A, Carvalho T, Menard R, Bhanot P. Role of Plasmodium berghei cGMP-dependent protein kinase in late liver stage development. J Biol Chem 2010;285:3282–8.
- [35] Fang H, Gomes AR, Klages N, Pino P, Maco B, Walker EM, et al. Epistasis studies reveal redundancy among calcium-dependent protein kinases in motility and invasion of malaria parasites. Nat Commun 2018;9:4248.
- [36] Fang H, Klages N, Baechler B, Hillner E, Yu L, Pardo M, et al. Multiple short windows of calcium-dependent protein kinase 4 activity coordinate distinct cell cycle events during. Elife 2017;6.
- [37] Flaherty BR, Ho TG, Schmidt SH, Herberg FW, Peterson DS, Kennedy EJ. Targeted Inhibition of Plasmodium falciparum Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase 1 with a Constrained J Domain-Derived Disruptor Peptide. ACS Infect Dis 2019;5:506–14.
- [38] Garcia GE, Wirtz RA, Barr JR, Woolfitt A, Rosenberg R. Xanthurenic acid induces gametogenesis in Plasmodium, the malaria parasite. J Biol Chem 1998;273:12003–5.

- [39] Garcia GE, Wirtz RA, Rosenberg R. Isolation of a substance from the mosquito that activates Plasmodium fertilization. Mol Biochem Parasitol 1997;88:127–35.
- [40] Gaur D, Chitnis CE. Molecular interactions and signaling mechanisms during erythrocyte invasion by malaria parasites. Curr Opin Microbiol 2011;14:422–8.
- [41] Gaur D, Mayer DC, Miller LH. Parasite ligand-host receptor interactions during invasion of erythrocytes by Plasmodium merozoites. Int J Parasitol 2004;34:1413–29.
- [42] Gazarini ML, Garcia CR. The malaria parasite mitochondrion senses cytosolic Ca2+ fluctuations. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2004;321:138–44.
- [43] Gazarini ML, Thomas AP, Pozzan T, Garcia CR. Calcium signaling in a low calcium environment: how the intracellular malaria parasite solves the problem. J Cell Biol 2003;161:103–10.
- [44] Gomes AR, Bushell E, Schwach F, Girling G, Anar B, Quail MA, et al. A genomescale vector resource enables high-throughput reverse genetic screening in a malaria parasite. Cell Host Microbe 2015;17:404–13.
- [45] Govindasamy K, Bhanot P. Overlapping and distinct roles of CDPK family members in the pre-erythrocytic stages of the rodent malaria parasite. Plasmodium berghei. PLoS Pathog 2020;16(8):e1008131.
- [46] Govindasamy K, Jebiwott S, Jaijyan DK, Davidow A, Ojo KK, van Voorhis WC, et al. Invasion of hepatocytes by Plasmodium sporozoites requires cGMPdependent protein kinase and calcium dependent protein kinase 4. Mol Microbiol 2016;102:349–63.
- [47] Green JL, Moon RW, Whalley D, Bowyer PW, Wallace C, Rochani A, et al. Imidazopyridazine Inhibitors of Plasmodium falciparum Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinase 1 Also Target Cyclic GMP-Dependent Protein Kinase and Heat Shock Protein 90 To Kill the Parasite at Different Stages of Intracellular Development. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2015;60:1464–75.
- [48] Green JL, Rees-Channer RR, Howell SA, Martin SR, Knuepfer E, Taylor HM, et al. The motor complex of Plasmodium falciparum: phosphorylation by a calcium-dependent protein kinase. J Biol Chem 2008;283:30980–9.
- [49] Hotta CT, Gazarini ML, Beraldo FH, Varotti FP, Lopes C, Markus RP, et al. Calcium-dependent modulation by melatonin of the circadian rhythm in malarial parasites. Nat Cell Biol 2000;2:466–8.
- [50] Huang JF, Teyton L, Harper JF. Activation of a Ca(2+)-dependent protein kinase involves intramolecular binding of a calmodulin-like regulatory domain. Biochemistry 1996;35:13222–30.
- [51] Huang W, Hulverson MA, Zhang Z, Choi R, Hart KJ, Kennedy M, et al. 5-Aminopyrazole-4-carboxamide analogues are selective inhibitors of Plasmodium falciparum microgametocyte exflagellation and potential malaria transmission blocking agents. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2016;26:5487–91.
- [52] Invergo BM, Brochet M, Yu L, Choudhary J, Beltrao P, Billker O. Sub-minute Phosphoregulation of Cell Cycle Systems during Plasmodium Gamete Formation. Cell Rep 2017;21:2017–29.
- [53] Ishida S, Yuasa T, Nakata M, Takahashi Y. A tobacco calcium-dependent protein kinase, CDPK1, regulates the transcription factor REPRESSION OF SHOOT GROWTH in response to gibberellins. Plant Cell 2008;20:3273–88.
- [54] Ishino T, Orito Y, Chinzei Y, Yuda M. A calcium-dependent protein kinase regulates Plasmodium ookinete access to the midgut epithelial cell. Mol Microbiol 2006;59:1175–84.
- [55] Iyer GR, Singh S, Kaur I, Agarwal S, Siddiqui MA, Bansal A, et al. Calciumdependent phosphorylation of. J Biol Chem 2018;293:9736–46.
- [56] Jebiwott S, Govindaswamy K, Mbugua A, Bhanot P. Plasmodium berghei calcium dependent protein kinase 1 is not required for host cell invasion. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e79171.
- [57] Kadian K, Gupta Y, Kempaiah P, Gupta N, Sharma A, Rawat M. Calcium Dependent Protein Kinases (CDPKs): Key to Malaria Eradication. Curr Top Med Chem 2017;17:2215–20.
- [58] Kato K, Sudo A, Kobayashi K, Sugi T, Tohya Y, Akashi H. Characterization of Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase 4. Parasitol Int 2009;58:394–400.
- [59] Kato N, Sakata T, Breton G, le Roch KG, Nagle A, Andersen C, et al. Gene expression signatures and small-molecule compounds link a protein kinase to Plasmodium falciparum motility. Nat Chem Biol 2008;4:347–56.
- [60] Kawamoto F, Alejo-Blanco R, Fleck SL, Kawamoto Y, Sinden RE. Possible roles of Ca2+ and cGMP as mediators of the exflagellation of Plasmodium berghei and Plasmodium falciparum. Mol Biochem Parasitol 1990;42:101–8.
- [61] Kawamoto F, Alejo-Blanco R, Fleck SL, Sinden RE. Plasmodium berghei: ionic regulation and the induction of gametogenesis. Exp Parasitol 1991;72:33–42.
- [62] Kawamoto F, Fujioka H, Murakami R, Syafruddin, Hagiwara M, Ishikawa T, Hidaka H. The roles of Ca2+/calmodulin- and cGMP-dependent pathways in gametogenesis of a rodent malaria parasite, Plasmodium berghei. Eur J Cell Biol 1993;60:101–7.
- [63] Kawamoto N, Sasabe M, Endo M, Machida Y, Araki T. Calcium-dependent protein kinases responsible for the phosphorylation of a bZIP transcription factor FD crucial for the florigen complex formation. Sci Rep 2015;5:8341.
- [64] Kumar P, Tripathi A, Ranjan R, Halbert J, Gilberger T, Doerig C, et al. Regulation of Plasmodium falciparum development by calcium-dependent protein kinase 7 (PfCDPK7). J Biol Chem 2014;289:20386–95.
- [65] Kumar S, Kumar M, Ekka R, Dvorin JD, Paul AS, Madugundu AK, et al. PfCDPK1 mediated signaling in erythrocytic stages of Plasmodium falciparum. Nat Commun 2017;8:63.
- [66] Large JM, Osborne SA, Smiljanic-Hurley E, Ansell KH, Jones HM, Taylor DL, et al. Imidazopyridazines as potent inhibitors of Plasmodium falciparum

Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 19 (2021) 5092-5107

calcium-dependent protein kinase 1 (PfCDPK1): Preparation and evaluation of pyrazole linked analogues. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2013;23:6019–24.

- [67] Larson ET, Ojo KK, Murphy RC, Johnson SM, Zhang Z, Kim JE, et al. Multiple determinants for selective inhibition of apicomplexan calcium-dependent protein kinase CDPK1. J Med Chem 2012;55:2803–10.
- [68] Lemercier G, Fernandez-Montalvan A, Shaw JP, Kugelstadt D, Bomke J, Domostoj M, et al. Identification and characterization of novel small molecules as potent inhibitors of the plasmodial calcium-dependent protein kinase 1. Biochemistry 2009;48:6379–89.
- [69] Li JL, Baker DA, Cox LS. Sexual stage-specific expression of a third calciumdependent protein kinase from Plasmodium falciparum. Biochim Biophys Acta, Mol Cell Biol Lipids 2000;1491:341–9.
- [70] Liao JJ. Molecular recognition of protein kinase binding pockets for design of potent and selective kinase inhibitors. J Med Chem 2007;50:409–24.
- [71] Lima MNN, Cassiano GC, Tomaz KCP, Silva AC, Sousa BKP, Ferreira LT, et al. Integrative Multi-Kinase Approach for the Identification of Potent Antiplasmodial Hits. Front Chem 2019;7:773.
- [72] Matta SK, Rinkenberger N, Dunay IR, Sibley LD. Toxoplasma gondii infection and its implications within the central nervous system. Nat Rev Microbiol 2021;19:467–80.
- [73] Mcfadden GI. Mergers and acquisitions: malaria and the great chloroplast heist. Genome Biol 2000(1). REVIEWS1026.
- [74] McRobert L, Taylor CJ, Deng W, Fivelman QL, Cummings RM, Polley SD, et al. Gametogenesis in malaria parasites is mediated by the cGMP-dependent protein kinase. PLoS Biol 2008;6:e139.
- [75] Michaels SA, Hennessey KM, Paragas N, Paredez AR, Ojo KK. A Curious Case for Development of Kinase Inhibitors as Antigiardiasis Treatments Using Advanced Drug Techniques. ACS Infect Dis 2021.
- [76] Mohanta TK, Kumar P, Bae H. Genomics and evolutionary aspect of calcium signaling event in calmodulin and calmodulin-like proteins in plants. BMC Plant Biol 2017;17:38.
- [77] Moolman Chantalle, Sluis Rencia, Beteck Richard, Legoabe Lesetja. An Update on Development of Small-Molecule Plasmodial Kinase Inhibitors. Molecules 2020;25(21):5182. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25215182</u>.
- [78] Moon RW, Taylor CJ, Bex C, Schepers R, Goulding D, Janse CJ, et al. A cyclic GMP signalling module that regulates gliding motility in a malaria parasite. PLoS Pathog 2009;5:e1000599.
- [79] More KR, Kaur I, Giai Gianetto Q, Invergo BM, Chaze T, Jain R, Huon C, Gutenbrunner P, Weisser H, Matondo M, Choudhary JS, Langsley G, Singh S, Chitnis CE. Phosphorylation-Dependent Assembly of a 14-3-3 Mediated Signaling Complex during Red Blood Cell Invasion by Plasmodium falciparum Merozoites. mBio 2020:11.
- [80] Moreno SN, Docampo R. Calcium regulation in protozoan parasites. Curr Opin Microbiol 2003;6:359–64.
- [81] Mota MM, Rodriguez A. Invasion of mammalian host cells by Plasmodium sporozoites. BioEssays 2002;24:149–56.
- [82] Muhia David K, Swales Claire A, Deng Wensheng, Kelly John M, Baker David A. The gametocyte-activating factor xanthurenic acid stimulates an increase in membrane-associated guanylyl cyclase activity in the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Mol Microbiol 2001;42(2): 553–60.
- [83] Mustière R, Vanelle P, Primas N. Plasmodial Kinase Inhibitors Targeting Malaria: Recent Developments. Molecules 2020:25.
- [84] Möskes C, Burghaus PA, Wernli B, Sauder U, Dürrenberger M, Kappes B. Export of Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase 1 to the parasitophorous vacuole is dependent on three N-terminal membrane anchor motifs. Mol Microbiol 2004;54:676–91.
- [85] Münter S, Sabass B, Selhuber-Unkel C, Kudryashev M, Hegge S, Engel U, et al. Plasmodium sporozoite motility is modulated by the turnover of discrete adhesion sites. Cell Host Microbe 2009;6:551–62.
 [86] Nakata M, Yuasa T, Takahashi Y, Ishida S. CDPK1, a calcium-dependent
- [86] Nakata M, Yuasa T, Takahashi Y, Ishida S. CDPK1, a calcium-dependent protein kinase, regulates transcriptional activator RSG in response to gibberellins. Plant Signal Behav 2009;4:372–4.
- [87] Nijhout MM. Plasmodium gallinaceum: exflagellation stimulated by a mosquito factor. Exp Parasitol 1979;48:75–80.
- [88] Nishimura K, Fukagawa T, Takisawa H, Kakimoto T, Kanemaki M. An auxinbased degron system for the rapid depletion of proteins in nonplant cells. Nat Methods 2009;6:917–22.
- [89] Ojo Kayode K, Arakaki Tracy L, Napuli Alberto J, Inampudi Krishna K, Keyloun Katelyn R, Zhang Li, et al. Structure determination of glycogen synthase kinase-3 from Leishmania major and comparative inhibitor structure-activity relationships with Trypanosoma brucei GSK-3. Mol Biochem Parasitol 2011;176(2):98–108.
- [90] Ojo KK, Eastman RT, Vidadala R, Zhang Z, Rivas KL, Choi R, et al. A specific inhibitor of PfCDPK4 blocks malaria transmission: chemical-genetic validation. J Infect Dis 2014;209:275–84.
- [91] Ojo KK, Pfander C, Mueller NR, Burstroem C, Larson ET, Bryan CM, et al. Transmission of malaria to mosquitoes blocked by bumped kinase inhibitors. J Clin Invest 2012;122:2301–5.
- [92] Pandey K, Ferreira PE, Ishikawa T, Nagai T, Kaneko O, Yahata K. Ca(2+) monitoring in Plasmodium falciparum using the yellow cameleon-Nano biosensor. Sci Rep 2016;6:23454.
- [93] Passos AP, Garcia CR. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate induced Ca2+ release from chloroquine-sensitive and -insensitive intracellular stores in the intraerythrocytic stage of the malaria parasite P. chabaudi. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998;245:155–60.

M. Sharma, H. Choudhury, R. Roy et al.

Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 19 (2021) 5092-5107

- [94] Philip N, Waters AP. Conditional Degradation of Plasmodium Calcineurin Reveals Functions in Parasite Colonization of both Host and Vector. Cell Host Microbe 2015;18:122–31.
- [95] Pinto DJ, Vinayak S. Host-Parasite Interactions and Pathogenesis. Curr Clin Microbiol Rep 2021:1–6.
- [96] Pinzon-Ortiz C, Friedman J, Esko J, Sinnis P. The binding of the circumsporozoite protein to cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans is required for plasmodium sporozoite attachment to target cells. J Biol Chem 2001;276:26784–91.
- [97] Ranjan R, Ahmed A, Gourinath S, Sharma P. Dissection of mechanisms involved in the regulation of Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase 4. J Biol Chem 2009;284:15267–76.
- [98] Rotmann A, Sanchez C, Guiguemde A, Rohrbach P, Dave A, Bakouh N, et al. PfCHA is a mitochondrial divalent cation/H+ antiporter in Plasmodium falciparum. Mol Microbiol 2010;76:1591–606.
- [99] Rout S, Mahapatra RK. In silico analysis of plasmodium falciparum CDPK5 protein through molecular modeling, docking and dynamics. J Theor Biol 2019;461:254–67.
- [100] Sebastian S, Brochet M, Collins MO, Schwach F, Jones ML, Goulding D, et al. A Plasmodium calcium-dependent protein kinase controls zygote development and transmission by translationally activating repressed mRNAs. Cell Host Microbe 2012;12:9–19.
- [101] Shi S, Li S, Asim M, Mao J, Xu D, Ullah Z, Liu G, Wang Q, Liu H. Int J Mol Sci 2018;19.
- [102] Siden-Kiamos I, Ecker A, Nybäck S, Louis C, Sinden RE, Billker O. Plasmodium berghei calcium-dependent protein kinase 3 is required for ookinete gliding motility and mosquito midgut invasion. Mol Microbiol 2006;60:1355–63.
- [103] Sinden RE, Butcher GA, Billker O, Fleck SL. Regulation of infectivity of Plasmodium to the mosquito vector. Adv Parasitol 1996;38:53–117.
- [104] Singh S, Alam MM, Pal-Bhowmick I, Brzostowski JA, Chitnis CE. Distinct external signals trigger sequential release of apical organelles during erythrocyte invasion by malaria parasites. PLoS Pathog 2010;6:e1000746.
- [105] Sinnis P, Coppi A. A long and winding road: the Plasmodium sporozoite's journey in the mammalian host. Parasitol Int 2007;56:171-8.
- [106] Solyakov L, Halbert J, Alam MM, Semblat JP, Dorin-Semblat D, Reininger L, et al. Global kinomic and phospho-proteomic analyses of the human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Nat Commun 2011;2:565.

- [107] Sturm A, Amino R, van de Sand C, Regen T, Retzlaff S, Rennenberg A, et al. Manipulation of host hepatocytes by the malaria parasite for delivery into liver sinusoids. Science 2006;313:1287–90.
- [108] Tewari R, Straschil U, Bateman A, Böhme U, Cherevach I, Gong P, et al. The systematic functional analysis of Plasmodium protein kinases identifies essential regulators of mosquito transmission. Cell Host Microbe 2010;8:377–87.
- [109] Uyemura SA, Luo S, Moreno SN, Docampo R. Oxidative phosphorylation, Ca(2
 +) transport, and fatty acid-induced uncoupling in malaria parasites mitochondria. J Biol Chem 2000;275:9709–15.
- [110] van Voorhis WC, Doggett JS, Parsons M, Hulverson MA, Choi R, Arnold SLM, et al. Extended-spectrum antiprotozoal bumped kinase inhibitors: A review. Exp Parasitol 2017;180:71–83.
- [111] van Voorhis WC, Hulverson MA, Choi R, Huang W, Arnold SLM, Schaefer DA, et al. One health therapeutics: Target-Based drug development for cryptosporidiosis and other apicomplexa diseases. Vet Parasitol 2021;289:109336.
- [112] Vidadala Rama Subba Rao, Ojo Kayode K, Johnson Steven M, Zhang Zhongsheng, Leonard Stephen E, Mitra Arinjay, et al. Development of potent and selective Plasmodium falciparum calcium-dependent protein kinase 4 (PfCDPK4) inhibitors that block the transmission of malaria to mosquitoes. Eur J Med Chem 2014;74:562–73.
- [113] Wasserman M, Alarcón C, Mendoza PM. Effects of Ca++ depletion on the asexual cell cycle of Plasmodium falciparum. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1982;31:711–7.
- [114] Weiss GE, Gilson PR, Taechalertpaisarn T, Tham WH, de Jong NW, Harvey KL, et al. Revealing the sequence and resulting cellular morphology of receptorligand interactions during Plasmodium falciparum invasion of erythrocytes. PLoS Pathog 2015;11:e1004670.
- [115] Wernimont AK, Amani M, Qiu W, Pizarro JC, Artz JD, Lin YH, et al. Structures of parasitic CDPK domains point to a common mechanism of activation. Proteins 2011;79:803–20.
- [116] Wernimont AK, Artz JD, Finerty P, Lin YH, Amani M, Allali-Hassani A, et al. Structures of apicomplexan calcium-dependent protein kinases reveal mechanism of activation by calcium. Nat Struct Mol Biol 2010;17:596–601.
- [117] Zhang M, Wang C, Otto TD, Oberstaller J, Liao X, Adapa SR, et al. Uncovering the essential genes of the human malaria parasite. Science 2018;360.